

PR13 Implementation - Proposed Schedule 8 for Freight Operators

SCHEDULE 8: PERFORMANCE REGIME

1. Definitions

In this Schedule 8 unless the context otherwise requires:

“100 Train Operator Miles” means the distance travelled by the Services operated by the Train Operator on the Network in any Charging Period as recorded in Network Rail’s billing systems (unless there is a manifest error in such figure), divided by 100;

“Actual Mileage t” has the meaning ascribed to it in paragraph 10.1.4(a);

“Adjusted MDNR” has the meaning ascribed to it in paragraph 6.2.1;

“Adjusted MDTO” has the meaning ascribed to it in paragraph 4.2.1;

“Adjusted Train Operator Benchmark” means the Train Operator Benchmark as adjusted in accordance with paragraph 10.1.7(a);

“Adjustment Fraction” means the number of Charging Periods or parts of a Charging Period in the first or final Financial Year, divided by 13;

“Aggregate Net Liability” has the meaning ascribed to it in paragraph 9.1.7;

“Annual Contract Mileage” has the meaning ascribed to it in paragraph 10.2.2(a);

“Annual Contract Mileage Variation” has the meaning ascribed to it in paragraph 10.2.2(b);

“Attributable to both the Train Operator and Network Rail” means, in respect of any delay to or cancellation of a Service or a Third Party Train, a delay or cancellation in relation to which the parties have agreed or it is otherwise determined, having regard to the guidance on allocation of responsibility for incidents set out in the Delay Attribution Guide, that both the Train Operator and Network Rail are to be jointly responsible (in which case the delay or cancellation shall not fall within the definitions of “Attributable to the Train Operator” or “Attributable to Network Rail”);

“Attributable to Network Rail” means, in respect of any delay to or cancellation of a Service or any other matter:

- (a) any delay or cancellation or other matter, occurring on or off the Network, which is not Attributable to the Train Operator;
- (b) any delay to, or cancellation of, a Restriction of Use, which is not Attributable to the Train Operator;
- (c) that portion of any such delay to or cancellation of a Service that would otherwise be Attributable to both the Train Operator and Network Rail, but which the parties agree, or it is otherwise determined, is Attributable to Network Rail; or
- (d) any delay or cancellation occurring on or off the Network, caused by an Other Train Operator Train on the Network,

and which excludes any such delay to or cancellation of a Service or any other matter arising as a result of a Planned Incident, in all cases having regard to the guidance on allocation of responsibility for incidents set out in the Delay Attribution Guide;

“Attributable to the Train Operator” means:

- (a) in respect of any delay to or cancellation of a Service, any such delay or cancellation arising as a result of:
- (i) any acts or omissions of the Train Operator's staff or its agents, contractors or sub-contractors;
 - (ii) any Train Operator Omission;
 - (iii) any failure or defect in the Specified Equipment relating to a Service (including where Network Rail shall have refused to permit the Service to move over the Network because the contents of the railway wagons have escaped, or there is pollution arising from the operation of such railway wagons);
 - (iv) any improperly loaded railway wagons which form the whole or part of any Service;
 - (v) any Service not being promptly accepted off the Network at a Destination or Intermediate Point for reasons not caused by Network Rail (in its capacity as operator of the Network), its agents, contractors or sub-contractors (acting as agent, contractor or sub-contractor for Network Rail in its capacity as operator of the Network) (other than the Train Operator);
 - (vi) any failures or delays arising off the Network, other than those which are caused by Network Rail (in its capacity as operator of the Network), its agents, contractors or sub-contractors (acting as agent, contractor or sub-contractor for Network Rail in its capacity as operator of the Network) (other than the Train Operator); or
 - (vii) that portion of any such delay to or cancellation of a Service that would otherwise be Attributable to both the Train Operator and Network Rail, but which the parties agree or it is otherwise determined is Attributable to the Train Operator;
- (b) in respect of any delay to or cancellation of a Third Party Train, or of a Restriction of Use, any such delay or cancellation arising as a result of:
- (i) any delay to or cancellation of a Service Attributable to the Train Operator;

- (ii) any Train Operator Omission; or
- (iii) that portion of any such delay to, or cancellation of, a Service that would otherwise be Attributable to both the Train Operator and Network Rail, but which the parties agree or it is otherwise determined is Attributable to the Train Operator,

in all cases:

- (aa) having regard to the guidance on allocation of responsibility for incidents set out in the Delay Attribution Guide; and
- (bb) ignoring any delay or cancellation under paragraph (d) of the definition of “Attributable to Network Rail”;

“**Baseline Annual Contract Mileage**” has the meaning ascribed to it in paragraph 10.1.1;

“**Baseline Network Mileage**” has the meaning ascribed to it in paragraph 10.1.1;

“**Benchmarks**” means the Train Operator Benchmark and the Network Rail Benchmark;

“**Cancellation**” has the meaning ascribed to it in paragraph 8.1;

“**Cancellation Threshold**” has the meaning ascribed to it in Appendix 1;

“**Contract Miles**” has the meaning ascribed to it in Schedule 7;

“**Disruption Sum**” means the Disruption Sum specified in Appendix 1, as adjusted under paragraph 2.7.2 of Schedule 7;

“**ETCS**” means the European Train Control System;

“**Enhanced Planned Disruption Sum**” has the meaning ascribed to it in Schedule 4;

“Empty Third Party Train” means any empty passenger train or any Ancillary Movement;

“Financial Year t” has the meaning ascribed to it in paragraph 10.1.4;

“Financial Year t-1” means the Financial Year preceding Financial Year t;

“Financial Year t+1” has the meaning ascribed to it in paragraph 10.1.7(a);

“Full Cancellation” means, in relation to a Third Party Train, a cancellation of a train resulting in the train not operating at all;

“Incident Cap” in respect of each Financial Year, means the Incident Cap selected by the Train Operator in accordance with paragraph 11.1;

“Incident Cap Notice” has the meaning ascribed to it in paragraph 11.1.2;

“Initial Incident Cap Notice” has the meaning ascribed to it in paragraph 11.1.1;

“Late Notice Cancellation” means any Service which, pursuant to paragraph 5.6.1 of Schedule 4, is treated as a Cancellation for the purposes of paragraph 8.1(d);

“Late Notice Cancellation Sum” means the Late Notice Cancellation Sum specified in Appendix 1, as adjusted under paragraph 2.7.2 of Schedule 7;

~~**“Materiality Threshold”** has the meaning ascribed to it in paragraph 10.1.4(c);~~

“MDNR” has the meaning ascribed to it in paragraph 6.2.1(b);

“MDTO” has the meaning ascribed to it in paragraph 4.2.1(b);

“Minutes Delay” means, in respect of a Trigger of a Recording Point, the number of minutes delay in respect of that Trigger calculated in accordance with Appendix 2;

“Network Rail Benchmark” or **“NRB”** means, in relation to each Charging Period within the relevant Financial Year, the Network Rail Benchmark in Minutes Delay per 100 Train Operator Miles specified in Appendix 1;

~~**“Network Rail Bonus Payment Rate”** means the Network Rail Bonus Payment Rate specified in Appendix 1, as adjusted under paragraph 2.7.2 of Schedule 7;~~

“Network Rail Cap” means the Network Rail Cap specified in Appendix 1, as adjusted under paragraph 2.7.2 of Schedule 7 and paragraph 10.2 of this Schedule 8, save that, in respect of the first and last Financial Year, the Network Rail Cap shall be that specified in Appendix 1 multiplied by the Adjustment Fraction;

“Network Rail Charging Period Limit” means $1/13^{\text{th}}$ of the Network Rail Cap;

“Network Rail Compensation Payment Rate” means the Network Rail ~~Compensation~~ Payment Rate specified in Appendix 1, as adjusted under paragraph 2.7.2 of Schedule 7;

“Normal Planned Disruption Sum” has the meaning ascribed to it in Schedule 4;

“Other Train Operator Train” means any train operated pursuant to a permission to use granted to the Train Operator by an agreement other than this contract;

“Part Cancellation” means, in relation to a Third Party Train, a cancellation of a train resulting in the train either not commencing at its Origin or not arriving at its Destination;

“Performance Data Accuracy Code” has the meaning ascribed to it in Part B of the Network Code;

“Performance Sum” means an amount for which the Train Operator or Network Rail is liable under one of paragraphs 4 and 6 following a Charging Period in relation to Minutes Delay in that Charging Period and the preceding Charging Periods, as adjusted in accordance with paragraph 10;

“Planned Incident” means an incident in connection with a Restriction of Use to the extent that there is Recovery Time in respect of that Restriction of Use incorporated in the Working Timetable;

“Prolonged Disruption” means the operation of Services in accordance with the Working Timetable on any part of the Network (for which there is no reasonably practicable diversionary route) being prevented for more than one Week as a result of any event or circumstance Attributable to Network Rail, but excluding from such events and circumstances Restrictions of Use, strikes, any kind of industrial action (on the part of any person) and the direct effects of the weather;

“Prolonged Disruption Amount” means the Prolonged Disruption Amount specified in Appendix 1, as adjusted under paragraph 2.7.2 of Schedule 7;

“Prolonged Disruption Sum” means the Prolonged Disruption Sum calculated in accordance with paragraph 7;

“Railway Operational Code” has the meaning ascribed to it in Part H of the Network Code;

“Recording Point” means a location at which Network Rail records the times at which trains arrive at, pass or depart from that location;

“Recovery Time” means additional time incorporated in the Working Timetable to allow a train to regain time lost in delay during an earlier part of its journey;

“Relevant Train Operator Mileage” has the meaning ascribed to it in paragraph 10.1.1;

“Service Variation” has the meaning ascribed to it in Schedule 4;

“Third Party Train” means a train other than a train operated by the Train Operator under this contract;

“Third Party Train Mileage” has the meaning ascribed to it in paragraph 10.1.1;

“Total Actual Operated Mileage” has the meaning ascribed to it in paragraph 10.1.1;

“Traffic Growth” has the meaning ascribed to it in paragraph 10.1.1;

“Traffic Reduction” has the meaning ascribed to it in paragraph 10.1.1;

“Train Operator Benchmark” or **“TOB”** means the Train Operator Benchmark in Minutes Delay per 100 Train Operator Miles in relation to each Charging Period, as specified in Appendix 1 and adjusted in accordance with paragraph 10.1;

~~**“Train Operator Bonus Payment Rate”** means the Train Operator Bonus Payment Rate specified in Appendix 1, as adjusted under paragraph 2.7.2 of Schedule 7;~~

“Train Operator Cap” means the Train Operator Cap specified in Appendix 1, as adjusted under paragraph 2.7.2 of Schedule 7 and paragraph 10.2 of this Schedule 8, save that, in respect of the first and last Financial Year, the Train Operator Cap shall be that specified in Appendix 1 multiplied by the Adjustment Fraction;

“Train Operator Charging Period Limit” means 1/13th of the Train Operator Cap;

~~**“Train Operator Compensation Payment Rate”** means the Train Operator Compensation Payment Rate specified in Appendix 1, as adjusted under paragraph 2.7.2 of Schedule 7; and~~

“Train Operator Omission” means any failure of or defect in or damage to the Network (excluding fair wear and tear) arising from:

- (a) the improper operation of trains under this contract;
- (b) a breach of the Train Operator’s Safety Obligations or of the terms of this contract; or

- (c) any act or omission of the Train Operator's staff or agents, contractors or sub-contractors in breach of this contract;

“**Trigger**” means the act of a train arriving at, passing or departing from a Recording Point.

2. General

2.1 Performance monitoring system recordings

For the purposes of this Schedule 8, Network Rail shall use recordings made using the Performance Monitoring System, including the times at which Services and Third Party Trains Trigger a Recording Point. In respect of Services only, and where appropriate, Network Rail may require the Train Operator to make the relevant entry to record such times on the Performance Monitoring System. Network Rail and the Train Operator shall each comply with and be bound by the Performance Data Accuracy Code, and the provisions of the Performance Data Accuracy Code shall apply to this Schedule 8.

2.2 Liability for Short Notice Service

Network Rail shall, notwithstanding that it shall have accepted a Train Operator Variation Request for a Train Slot which is a Short Notice Service, have no liability under any provision of this Schedule 8 to the Train Operator in respect of delays to any Short Notice Service where such delay arises as a result of Network Rail meeting its commitments in terms of train regulation as set out in any relevant Train Regulation Policies established pursuant to the Railway Operational Code.

2.3 Mitigation of delays

The parties shall take reasonable steps to avoid and mitigate the effects of any incidents which cause delay to or cancellation of any trains, and any failure to take such steps shall be regarded as a separate incident.

2.4 Calculation of Minutes Delay

Appendix 2 (Calculation of Minutes Delay) shall have effect.

3. Diagnosis of delays

3.1 Attributing delays

Network Rail shall, using the information recorded under paragraph 2.1, identify whether each minute of delay included in Minutes Delay in respect of a Service or Third Party Train is:

- (a) Attributable to the Train Operator;
- (b) Attributable to Network Rail; or
- (c) Attributable to both the Train Operator and Network Rail.

3.2 Delays Attributable to both the Train Operator and Network Rail

If a delay is Attributable to both the Train Operator and Network Rail, the associated Minutes Delay shall be allocated equally to the Train Operator and to Network Rail.

3.3 Unexplained delays Attributable to Network Rail

If the cause of the delay to or cancellation of a Service which occurs on the Network cannot be explained, the responsibility for such delay or cancellation shall be deemed to be Attributable to Network Rail.

3.4 Unexplained delays Attributable to the Train Operator

If the cause of the delay to or cancellation of a Service which occurs off the Network cannot be explained, the responsibility for such delay or cancellation shall be deemed to be Attributable to the Train Operator.

3.5 Identifying delaying incidents

The parties shall co-operate with each other by providing all such information to one another as is reasonably practicable regarding the

identification of the incidents which cause delay to or cancellation of any Service or Third Party Train.

3.6 *Performance statements*

Appendix 3 (Performance statements) shall have effect.

4. **Minutes Delay in respect of Train Operator performance**

4.1 *Prescribed delay period*

4.1.1 For the purposes of this paragraph 4, the aggregate Minutes Delay to Third Party Trains Attributable to the Train Operator arising as a result of any one incident or event shall be capped at the Incident Cap, so that any such minutes in excess of the Incident Cap shall be disregarded.

4.1.2 Any Full Cancellation of a Third Party Train (other than an Empty Third Party Train) which is Attributable to the Train Operator shall equate to 30 Minutes Delay and any Part Cancellation of a Third Party Train (other than an Empty Third Party Train) which is Attributable to the Train Operator shall equate to 15 Minutes Delay.

4.2 *Train Operator performance against TOB*

4.2.1 In respect of each Charging Period:

- (a) the Minutes Delay to Third Party Trains which are Attributable to the Train Operator; and
- (b) that portion of Minutes Delay to Third Party Trains which are Attributable to both the Train Operator and Network Rail which is allocated to the Train Operator (the aggregate Minutes Delay under (a) and (b) being referred to as "**MDTO**"),

in each case as adjusted in accordance with paragraph 4.1, shall be converted into a per 100 Train Operator Miles figure (the “**Adjusted MDTO**”) using the formula below:

$$\text{Adjusted MDTO} = \frac{\text{MDTO}}{100 \text{ Train Operator Miles}}$$

4.2.2 The Adjusted MDTO calculated in accordance with paragraph 4.2.1 shall then be compared with the TOB and:

- (a) if the Adjusted MDTO is less than TOB, Network Rail shall be liable to the Train Operator for a Performance Sum equal to:

$$\left((\text{TOB} - \text{the Adjusted MDTO}) \times \text{Train Operator-Bonus Payment Rate} \right) \times \left(\frac{\text{CPCM}}{100} \right)$$

where:

CPCM means the total number of Contract Miles operated by the Train Operator in the relevant Charging Period;

- (b) if the Adjusted MDTO exceeds TOB, the Train Operator shall be liable to Network Rail for a Performance Sum equal to:

$$\left((\text{the Adjusted MDTO} - \text{TOB}) \times \text{Train Operator-Compensation Payment Rate} \right) \times \left(\frac{\text{CPCM}}{100} \right)$$

where CPCM has the meaning ascribed to it in paragraph 4.2.2(a); and

- (c) if the Adjusted MDTO is equal to TOB, neither party shall be liable to the other for a Performance Sum under this paragraph 4.2.

5. Cancellations of or delays to Restrictions of Use Attributable to the Train Operator

If a Restriction of Use is cancelled or the commencement of a Restriction of Use is delayed, in either case for a reason Attributable to the Train Operator, then, in respect of the cancellation of or delay to such Restriction of Use, the Train Operator shall be liable to pay Network Rail a sum equal to:

- (a) in the case of a cancellation of a Restriction of Use, the Disruption Sum; or
- (b) in the case of a delay to the commencement of a Restriction of Use, one quarter of the Disruption Sum multiplied by the number of hours by which the commencement is delayed, up to a maximum of four hours. For the purposes of this paragraph 5(b) part of an hour shall be treated as an entire hour.

6. Minutes Delay in respect of Network Rail performance

6.1 Cancellations

For the purposes of this paragraph 6, in respect of any Service which is a Cancellation:

- (a) if the Service is a Cancellation as defined in paragraph 8.1(a), there shall not be any Minutes Delay in respect of the Service Attributable to Network Rail;
- (b) if the Service is a Cancellation as defined in paragraph 8.1(b), there shall be disregarded any Minutes Delay in respect of the Service after the first 12 hours aggregate of Minutes Delay; and
- (c) if the Service is a Cancellation as defined in paragraph 8.1(c), there shall be disregarded any Minutes Delay in respect of the

Service after the time at which the Service arrives at the point on or off the Network where it subsequently becomes a Cancellation.

6.2 Network Rail performance against NRB

In respect of each Charging Period:

6.2.1

- (a) the Minutes Delay to Services which are Attributable to Network Rail; and
- (b) that portion of Minutes Delay to Services which are Attributable to both the Train Operator and Network Rail which is allocated to Network Rail (the aggregate Minutes Delay under (a) and (b) being referred to as “**MDNR**”),

in each case as adjusted in accordance with paragraph 6.1, shall be converted into a per 100 Train Operator Miles figure (the “**Adjusted MDNR**”) using the following formula:

$$\text{Adjusted MDNR} = \frac{MDNR}{100 \text{ Train Operator Miles}}$$

6.2.2 the Adjusted MDNR calculated in accordance with paragraph 6.2.1 shall then be compared with the NRB and:

- (a) if the Adjusted MDNR is less than NRB, the Train Operator shall be liable to Network Rail for a Performance Sum equal to:

$$((NRB - \text{the Adjusted MDNR}) \times \text{Network Rail Bonus Payment Rate}) \times \left(\frac{CPCM}{100} \right)$$

where:

CPCM means the total number of Contract Miles operated by the Train Operator in the relevant Charging Period;

- (b) if the Adjusted MDNR exceeds NRB, Network Rail shall be liable to the Train Operator for a Performance Sum equal to:

$$\left((\text{the Adjusted MDNR} - \text{NRB}) \times \text{Network Rail Compensation Payment Rate} \right) \times \left(\frac{\text{CPCM}}{100} \right)$$

where CPCM has the meaning ascribed to it in paragraph 6.2.2(a); and

- (c) if the Adjusted MDNR is equal to NRB, neither party shall be liable to the other for a Performance Sum under this paragraph 6.2.

7. Prolonged Disruption

7.1 *Prolonged Disruption Sum calculation*

In respect of each Week during which any Prolonged Disruption continues, the Prolonged Disruption Sum shall be calculated in accordance with the following formula:

$$\text{Prolonged Disruption Sum} = \text{PDA} \times \text{S} \times \text{M}$$

where:

PDA is the Prolonged Disruption Amount;

S is one quarter of the number of Services operated during the four Weeks immediately before the first Week of the Prolonged Disruption over that part of the Network subject to the Prolonged Disruption; and

M is the multiplier set out in the table below in respect of that Week of the Prolonged Disruption:

Week	Multiplier
Week 1	1
Week 2	1
Week 3	2
Week 4	3
Week 5 to 13	2
Week 14 to 26	1.5

7.2 *Subsequent Prolonged Disruption*

No Prolonged Disruption Sum shall be payable in respect of Week 27 or any subsequent Week of a Prolonged Disruption.

7.3 *Network Rail liability*

7.3.1 Subject to paragraph 7.3.2 below, Network Rail shall be liable in any Charging Period for the Prolonged Disruption Sum in respect of each Prolonged Disruption of a Service Planned to depart its Origin in that Charging Period.

7.3.2 Network Rail shall not be liable under this paragraph 7 for any Prolonged Disruption Sum in respect of any Service which is an Empty Service (save that, for the purpose of this paragraph 7, a service, pursuant to a contract with a third party, conveying empty wagons and/or coaching stock will not be an Empty Service), a Short Notice Service or an Ancillary Movement.

8. Cancellation

8.1 Cancellation

“**Cancellation**” means any Service:

- (a) which does not depart from its Origin within 12 hours after the time at which it is Planned to depart;
- (b) which departs from its Origin within 12 hours after the time at which it is Planned to depart and arrives at its Destination more than 12 hours after the time at which it is Planned to arrive, and in respect of which no Diverted Service has been agreed; or
- (c) which departs from its Origin within 12 hours after the time at which it is Planned to depart but does not arrive at its Destination, and in respect of which no Diverted Service has been agreed,

in each case where at least 6 hours of the delay to the Service is Attributable to Network Rail; or

- (d) in respect of which Network Rail:
 - (1) nominates an Alternative Train Slot for a reason which is Attributable to Network Rail under paragraphs 4 or 5 of Schedule 4 and the Train Operator reasonably rejects such Train Slot and:
 - (i) does not propose a different Alternative Train Slot; or
 - (ii) proposes a different Alternative Train Slot and this is not accommodated by Network Rail as a Train Operator Variation; or

(2) is not able to nominate an Alternative Train Slot under paragraphs 4 or 5 of Schedule 4.

8.2 *Network Rail liability*

8.2.1 Subject to paragraphs 8.2.2, 8.2.3 and 8.3 below, and paragraphs 4.5, 5.6 and 7.4 of Schedule 4, Network Rail shall be liable in any Charging Period for the Cancellation Sum in respect of each Cancellation of a Service Planned to depart its Origin in that Charging Period.

8.2.2 Network Rail shall not be liable under this paragraph 8 for any Cancellation Sum in respect of:

- (a) an Empty Service (save that, for the purpose of this paragraph 8, a service, pursuant to a contract with a third party, conveying empty wagons and/or coaching stock will not be an Empty Service), a Short Notice Service or an Ancillary Movement; or
- (b) any Service which is Planned to depart its Origin during a Week in respect of which a Prolonged Disruption Sum is payable and which is a Cancellation as a result of such Prolonged Disruption.

8.2.3 In respect of any Cancellation which is a Late Notice Cancellation, Network Rail shall not be liable for the Cancellation Sum in respect of that Late Notice Cancellation pursuant to paragraph 8.2.1 above but shall instead be liable for the Late Notice Cancellation Sum in respect of that Late Notice Cancellation.

8.3 *Late presentation of Service*

Network Rail shall have no liability to the Train Operator under the terms of this Schedule 8 where a Service is presented to Network Rail after the time at which it is Planned to depart its Origin to the extent such late presentation leads to:

- (a) a Cancellation as a result of Network Rail meeting its commitments in terms of train regulation as set out in any relevant

Train Regulation Policies established pursuant to the Railway Operational Code; or

- (b) a conflict with any restrictions on the use of the Network contained in the Timetable Planning Rules.

9. Payment

9.1 Aggregate Net Liability of Network Rail and the Train Operator for Performance Sums

9.1.1 The Aggregate Net Liability of Network Rail for a Performance Sum in respect of any Charging Period shall not exceed the Network Rail Charging Period Limit.

9.1.2 Subject to paragraph 9.1.3, if Network Rail would otherwise be liable for a Performance Sum which exceeds the Network Rail Charging Period Limit, then the amount by which such claim exceeds the Network Rail Charging Period Limit shall be taken into account when calculating Network Rail's Aggregate Net Liability for a Performance Sum in respect of the subsequent Charging Period or Charging Periods in that Financial Year.

9.1.3 In respect of any Financial Year, the Aggregate Net Liability of Network Rail under this paragraph 9.1 shall not exceed the Network Rail Cap.

9.1.4 The Aggregate Net Liability of the Train Operator for a Performance Sum in respect of any Charging Period shall not exceed the Train Operator Charging Period Limit.

9.1.5 Subject to paragraph 9.1.6, if the Train Operator would otherwise be liable for a Performance Sum which exceeds the Train Operator Charging Period Limit, then the amount by which such claim exceeds the Train Operator Charging Period Limit shall be taken into account when calculating the Train Operator's Aggregate Net Liability for a Performance Sum in respect of the subsequent Charging Period or Charging Periods in that Financial Year.

9.1.6 In respect of any Financial Year, the Aggregate Net Liability of the Train Operator under this paragraph 9.1 shall not exceed the Train Operator Cap.

9.1.7 In this paragraph 9.1, the “**Aggregate Net Liability**” of a party means, in respect of a Charging Period or Financial Year, its liability after setting off the liability of the other party to it under the same provisions in respect of the same period.

9.2 *Issue of invoice or credit note*

9.2.1 In respect of each Charging Period, subject to paragraph 9.1, the liabilities of the Train Operator and of Network Rail for any Performance Sums (as such Performance Sums may be adjusted under paragraph 10), Service Variation Sums, Cancellation Sums, Late Notice Cancellation Sums, Normal Planned Disruption Sums, Enhanced Planned Disruption Sums, Disruption Sums and Prolonged Disruption Sums shall be set off against each other, and Network Rail shall issue an invoice or credit note as appropriate in respect of the balance, if any, within 28 days after the end of such Charging Period.

9.2.2 The invoice or credit note issued under paragraph 9.2.1 shall show:

- (a) any Performance Sums, Service Variation Sums, Cancellation Sums, Late Notice Cancellation Sums, Normal Planned Disruption Sums, Enhanced Planned Disruption Sums, Disruption Sums and Prolonged Disruption Sums for which Network Rail or the Train Operator is liable; and
- (b) any matter referred to in Appendix 3 which the Train Operator or Network Rail has disputed under paragraph 3 of Appendix 3 and which is still in dispute.

9.3 *Resolution of disputes*

9.3.1 Without prejudice to Clause 13, Part B of the Network Code shall apply to any dispute under this Schedule 8 in relation to the attribution of delay or cancellation.

9.3.2 The Train Operator shall not dispute any matter which it has agreed or is deemed to have agreed under Appendix 3.

10. Reviews of Benchmarks, Network Rail Cap and Train Operator Cap

10.1 *Adjustments to the Train Operator Benchmark*

10.1.1 In this paragraph 10:

“Baseline Annual Contract Mileage” means the amount determined in accordance with paragraph 10.2.3;

“Baseline Network Mileage” means the amount determined in accordance with paragraph 10.1.3;

“Relevant Train Operator Mileage” means, in respect of any Financial Year, the aggregate mileage travelled by all empty coaching stock and freight services operated by the Train Operator under this contract during that Financial Year as recorded in Network Rail’s billing systems (unless there is a manifest error in such figure);

“Third Party Train Mileage” means the aggregate mileage travelled by all passenger services, empty coaching stock and freight services on the Network during the Financial Year in question as recorded in Network Rail’s billing systems (unless there is a manifest error in such figure), excluding the Relevant Train Operator Mileage;

“Total Actual Operated Mileage” means, in respect of any Financial Year, the aggregate of:

- (a) the Relevant Train Operator Mileage for that Financial Year; and
- (b) the Third Party Train Mileage for that Financial Year;

“Traffic Growth” means the amount (if any) by which the Actual Mileage t exceeds the Baseline Network Mileage, expressed as a percentage of the Baseline Network Mileage; and

“Traffic Reduction” means the amount (if any) by which the Actual Mileage t is less than the Baseline Network Mileage, expressed as a percentage of the Baseline Network Mileage.

10.1.2 The Train Operator Benchmark that shall apply from 1 April in each Financial Year in relation to each Charging Period in that Financial Year shall be the Train Operator Benchmark specified in Appendix 1 as adjusted in accordance with this paragraph 10.1.

10.1.3

(a) The Baseline Network Mileage that shall apply from 1 April in each Financial Year shall be the Total Actual Operated Mileage for Financial Year ~~2007/2008~~, 2012/2013, as specified in Appendix 1, unless it is adjusted in accordance with paragraph 10.1.3(b).

(b) If, in accordance with paragraph 10.1.6, it is determined or agreed that an Adjusted Train Operator Benchmark is required, then the Baseline Network Mileage for (i) Financial Year t+1 and (ii) each subsequent Financial Year until any further adjustment is made to the Train Operator Benchmark in accordance with paragraph 10.1, shall be the Actual Mileage t for the Financial Year t in which the Traffic Growth or Traffic Reduction (as the case may be) which gave rise to the requirement for an Adjusted Train Operator Benchmark occurred.

10.1.4 Within 28 days after the last day of each Financial Year (“**Financial Year t**”), Network Rail shall determine:

(a) the Total Actual Operated Mileage for Financial Year t (the “**Actual Mileage t**”); and

(b) the difference (whether positive or negative) between the Actual Mileage t and the Baseline Network Mileage, in each case expressed as a percentage of the Baseline Network Mileage; ~~and~~.

~~(c) in respect of Financial Year t, whether the Traffic Growth or, as the case may be, Traffic Reduction is equal to or greater than 2.5% (the “**Materiality Threshold**”).~~

10.1.5 Promptly (and in any event, within 7 days) following determination, in accordance with paragraph 10.1.4, of ~~(X)~~ the Traffic Growth or Traffic Reduction (as the case may be), ~~and (Y) whether or not the Materiality Threshold has been met or exceeded~~, Network Rail shall:

- (a) notify the Train Operator (at the same time as notifying any other operators whose access agreement in relation to track includes a similar provision to this paragraph 10.1) in writing of:
 - (i) the Actual Mileage t;
 - (ii) the Baseline Network Mileage;
 - (iii) Network Rail's calculation of the Traffic Growth or Traffic Reduction (as the case may be) in accordance with paragraph 10.1.4(b); and
 - (iv) Network Rail's determination ~~as to whether or not the Materiality Threshold has been met or exceeded; and (v) Network Rail's determination~~ of the Adjusted Train Operator Benchmark ~~(if applicable)~~;
- (b) provide to the Train Operator (at the same time as providing to any other operators whose access agreement in relation to track includes a similar provision to this paragraph 10.1) such background data and workings as may reasonably be required for a proper understanding of Network Rail's calculations and determinations under this paragraph 10.1; and
- (c) confirm to the Train Operator (at the same time as confirming to any other operators whose access agreement in relation to track includes a similar provision to this paragraph 10.1) in writing that the same Adjusted Train Operator Benchmark shall apply to any other operators whose access agreement in relation to track includes a similar provision to this paragraph 10.1.

10.1.6

- (a) Promptly (and in any event, within 28 days) following receipt by the Train Operator of the information, notification and confirmation from Network Rail required to be provided pursuant to paragraph 10.1.5, the Train Operator shall notify Network Rail in writing whether it agrees or disagrees with Network Rail's ~~determinations~~determination under paragraph 10.1.5(a)(iv) ~~and/or paragraph 10.1.5(a)(v)~~.

- (b) If, within 28 days of despatch by Network Rail of the information, notification and confirmation from Network Rail required to be provided pursuant to paragraph 10.1.5, Network Rail has not received written notification from either (i) the Train Operator and/or (ii) any other train operator whose access agreement in relation to track includes a similar provision to this paragraph 10.1, informing Network Rail that the Train Operator and/or such other train operator (as the case may be) disagrees with Network Rail's ~~determinations~~determination pursuant to paragraph 10.1.5(a)(iv) ~~and/or paragraph 10.1.5(a)(v)~~, then Network Rail shall notify ORR and the Train Operator, and the Train Operator Benchmark shall be adjusted in accordance with paragraph 10.1.7.
- (c) If, within 28 days of despatch by Network Rail of the information, notification and confirmation from Network Rail required to be provided pursuant to paragraph 10.1.5, Network Rail has received written notification from either (i) the Train Operator and/or (ii) any other operator whose access agreement in relation to track includes a similar provision to this paragraph 10.1, informing Network Rail that the Train Operator and/or such other train operator (as the case may be) disagrees with Network Rail's ~~determinations~~determination pursuant to paragraph 10.1.5(a)(iv) ~~and/or paragraph 10.1.5(a)(v)~~, then Network Rail shall notify ORR and the Train Operator, and the matter shall be referred for resolution in accordance with the ADRR save that the parties shall agree in a Procedure Agreement, as defined in the ADRR, that the relevant ADRR Forum shall ~~(x)~~ have regard to any relevant criteria and/or policy statement most recently issued by ORR and/or any guidance issued by ORR in relation to the matter referred for resolution and ~~(y)~~ii set out in its determination the reasons for that determination.
- (d) The parties acknowledge and agree that any adjustment to the Train Operator Benchmark under this paragraph 10.1 must also apply to all other operators whose access agreement in relation to track includes a provision similar to this paragraph 10.1 and, accordingly, each party agrees to participate in any referral for resolution under paragraph 10.1.6(c), and to be bound by the determination, even if, either:
- (A) pursuant to paragraph 10.1.6(a), the Train Operator has notified Network Rail that it agrees with Network Rail's ~~determinations~~determination notified pursuant to

paragraph 10.1.5(a)(iv) ~~and/or paragraph 10.1.5(a)(v)~~;
and/or

- (B) the determination of the relevant ADRR Forum differs from ~~any of~~ Network Rail's ~~determinations~~ determination pursuant to paragraph 10.1.5(a)(iv) ~~and/or paragraph 10.1.5(a)(v)~~ with which the Train Operator agreed.

~~10.1.7 If, in respect of any Financial Year t, it is agreed or determined that the Traffic Growth or, as the case may be, Traffic Reduction is:~~

~~10.1.7 (a) equal to or greater than the Materiality Threshold, then the~~ The Train Operator Benchmark in respect of each Charging Period within the Financial Year immediately following Financial Year t ("**Financial Year t+1**") and, subject to paragraph 10.1.8, each subsequent Financial Year, shall be adjusted in accordance with the following formula:

$$ATOB = TOB \times [(Ta \times CF) + 1]$$

where:

ATOB means the Adjusted Train Operator Benchmark;

TOB means the current Train Operator Benchmark;

Ta means the Traffic Growth or Traffic Reduction (as applicable) for Financial Year t, provided that:

- (i) in the case of Traffic Growth, for the purposes of this formula "Ta" shall be a positive figure so that the TOB is increased to reflect the Traffic Growth; and
- (ii) in the case of Traffic Reduction, for the purposes of this formula "Ta" shall be a negative figure so that the TOB is decreased to reflect the Traffic Reduction; and

~~(iii) in either case, “Ta” is an amount in excess of the Materiality Threshold; and~~

CF is ~~4.5~~[] (being the “congestion factor”); ~~or,~~

~~(b) less than the Materiality Threshold, then no adjustment shall be made to the then current Train Operator Benchmark.~~

10.1.8 ~~If~~When the Train Operator Benchmark in relation to any Financial Year is adjusted pursuant to paragraph 10.1.7~~(a)~~ then, subject to paragraph 10.1.9, the Train Operator Benchmark for Financial Year t+1 shall be the Adjusted Train Operator Benchmark determined in accordance with paragraph ~~10.1.7(a)~~. ~~Such Adjusted Train Operator Benchmark shall apply for each subsequent Financial Year until any further adjustment is made to the Train Operator Benchmark in accordance with this paragraph 10.1.~~ 10.1.7.

10.1.9 If a reference is made to ~~an expert~~a relevant ADRR Forum in accordance with paragraph 10.1.6(c), the Train Operator Benchmark for Financial Year t+1 shall be the same Train Operator Benchmark as applied for Financial Year t until such time as the ~~expert~~relevant ADRR Forum makes its determination pursuant to paragraph 10.1.6(c). Following the ~~expert~~relevant ADRR Forum's determination pursuant to paragraph 10.1.6(c), the Train Operator Benchmark for Financial Year t+1 shall be replaced with effect from 1 April in Financial Year t+1 by the Adjusted Train Operator Benchmark as determined, as the case may be, by (i) the ~~expert~~relevant ADRR Forum or (ii) following the ~~expert~~relevant ADRR Forum's determination pursuant to paragraph 10.1.6(c), the parties in accordance with this paragraph 10.1.

10.1.10 Promptly following any adjustment to the Train Operator Benchmark under this paragraph 10.1, and in order to give effect to that adjustment, Network Rail shall issue to the Train Operator a statement showing the necessary adjustments to:

(a) any invoices and credit notes already issued; and

(b) any payments already made in respect of Performance Sums,

in each case relating to the Charging Periods in Financial Year t+1.

10.1.11 Any statement issued by Network Rail pursuant to paragraph 10.1.10 shall be accompanied by an adjusting invoice or credit note in accordance with paragraph 9.2.

10.2 *Adjustments to the Network Rail Cap and Train Operator Cap*

10.2.1 The Network Rail Cap and the Train Operator Cap that shall apply from 1 April in each Financial Year in relation to each Charging Period in that Financial Year shall be the Network Rail Cap and the Train Operator Cap, in each case as specified in Appendix 1 and as adjusted in accordance with this paragraph 10.2 and paragraph 2.7.2 of Schedule 7, provided that no adjustment shall be made to the Network Rail Cap or the Train Operator Cap pursuant to this paragraph 10.2 in respect of any period prior to 1 April ~~2010~~2014.

10.2.2 Within 28 days after the last day of Financial Year t, Network Rail shall notify the Train Operator in writing of:

- (a) the total number of Contract Miles operated by the Train Operator during Financial Year t (the “**Annual Contract Mileage**”);
- (b) Network Rail’s determination as to whether or not the Annual Contract Mileage for Financial Year t exceeds or is less than the Baseline Annual Contract Mileage by, in each case, an amount equal to or greater than 2.5% of the Baseline Annual Contract Mileage (the “**Annual Contract Mileage Variation**”); and
- (c) if Network Rail determines that there has been an Annual Contract Mileage Variation, Network Rail’s proposal for an adjusted Network Rail Cap and/or Train Operator Cap, in each case having regard to any relevant criteria and/or policy statement most recently issued by ORR.

10.2.3

- (a) The Baseline Annual Contract Mileage that shall apply from 1 April in each Financial Year shall be the total number of Contract Miles operated by the Train Operator during the Financial Year commencing on 1 April ~~2009~~2013 and ending

on 31 March ~~2010~~2014, unless it is adjusted in accordance with paragraph 10.2.3(b).

(b) If, in accordance with paragraph 10.2.2(b), Network Rail determines that there has been an Annual Contract Mileage Variation, then the Baseline Annual Contract Mileage for Financial Year t+1 and each subsequent Financial Year until any further adjustment is made to the Baseline Annual Contract Mileage pursuant to this paragraph 10.2.3(b) shall be the Annual Contract Mileage for the Financial Year t in which the Annual Contract Mileage Variation has occurred.

10.2.4 Promptly (and in any event, within 28 days) following receipt by the Train Operator of the information and notice from Network Rail required to be provided pursuant to paragraph 10.2.2, the parties shall endeavour to agree whether the Network Rail Cap and/or the Train Operator Cap should be adjusted in accordance with this paragraph 10.2 and, if so, the adjustment (in each case having regard to any relevant criteria and/or policy statement most recently issued by ORR), provided that any adjustment to the Network Rail Cap and/or the Train Operator Cap pursuant to this paragraph 10.2 shall be subject to the prior approval of ORR.

10.2.5 If, within 56 days of receipt by the Train Operator of the information and notice from Network Rail required to be provided pursuant to paragraph 10.2.2, the Train Operator and Network Rail reach agreement as to any adjustment to the Network Rail Cap and/or the Train Operator Cap, the parties shall notify ORR and shall provide ORR with such information and evidence as ORR shall require to determine whether or not to approve the proposed adjustment. The parties agree to abide by any determination issued by ORR.

10.2.6 If, within 56 days of receipt by the Train Operator of the information and notice from Network Rail required to be provided pursuant to paragraph 10.2.2, either:

- (i) the parties fail to reach agreement; or
- (ii) prior to the expiry of that 56 day period both parties agree that agreement is unlikely to be reached prior to expiry of that period,

the parties shall notify ORR and shall provide ORR with such information and evidence as ORR shall require to determine the matter. The parties agree to abide by any determination issued by ORR.

10.2.7 Any adjustment to the Network Rail Cap and/or the Train Operator Cap shall take effect only when it has been approved by ORR and, unless otherwise approved-specified by ORR, any such adjustment shall take effect from 1 April in Financial Year t+1.

10.2.8 Promptly following any adjustment to the Network Rail Cap and/or the Train Operator Cap pursuant to this paragraph 10.2, and in order to give effect to that adjustment, Network Rail shall issue to the Train Operator a statement showing the necessary adjustments to:

(a) any invoices and credit notes already issued; and

(b) any payments already made in respect of Performance Sums,

in each case relating to the Charging Periods in Financial Year t+1.

10.2.9 Any statement issued by Network Rail pursuant to paragraph 10.2.8 shall be accompanied by an adjusting invoice or credit note in accordance with paragraph 9.2.

11. Selection by the Train Operator of the Incident Cap

11.1 Selection by the Train Operator of the Incident Cap

11.1.1 On or before the date on which this paragraph 11.1 takes effect, the Train Operator shall notify Network Rail in writing of the level of Incident Cap it wishes to apply (the “**Initial Incident Cap Notice**”), and the Incident Cap Access Charge Supplement Rate applicable to the Train Operator under this contract shall be the rate set out in the column adjacent to the Incident Cap selected by the Train Operator in the Initial Incident Cap Notice until it is replaced by a different level of Incident Cap selected by the Train Operator in an Incident Cap Notice issued pursuant to paragraph 11.1.2.

11.1.2 The Train Operator may change the level of Incident Cap previously selected by it (either in the Initial Incident Cap Notice or any subsequent Incident Cap Notice issued pursuant to this paragraph 11.1.2) with effect from 1 April in any Financial Year by notifying Network Rail in writing of the level of Incident Cap it wishes to apply for that Financial Year (the “**Incident Cap Notice**”). Any such Incident Cap Notice must be served by the Train Operator on Network Rail by no later than 6 weeks prior to 1 April in the Financial Year from which the Train Operator wishes the new level of Incident Cap to apply, and the Incident Cap Access Charge Supplement Rate applicable for that and each subsequent Financial Year shall be the rate set out in the column adjacent to the Incident Cap selected by the Train Operator in the Incident Cap Notice until it is replaced by a different level of Incident Cap selected by the Train Operator pursuant to this paragraph 11.1.2.

11.2 Level of Incident Cap and Incident Cap Access Charge Supplement Rate

For the purposes of paragraph 11.1, the Train Operator shall select one of the following Incident Caps:

Incident Cap	Incident Cap Access Charge Supplement Rate (£ per Contract Mile operated in a Charging Period)
0	0
1, 000 minutes	0.0662
2, 000 minutes	0.0349
3, 000 minutes	0.0253
4, 000 minutes	0.0213
5, 000 minutes	0.0186
6, 000 minutes	0.0163
7, 000 minutes	0.0146
8, 000 minutes	0.0131
9, 000 minutes	0.0119

10, 000 minutes	0.0106
No Incident Cap	

12 ETCS Amendments

12.1 Circumstances in which ETCS Amendments can be made

- (a) Either party may by notice to the other propose that amendments are made to this Schedule 8 (and to any other provisions of this contract as a result of those amendments) as a consequence of the introduction of ETCS on any part of the Network that is used by the Train Operator ("ETCS Amendments").
- (b) ORR may make ETCS Amendments, subject to complying with paragraph 12.3.

12.2 ETCS Amendments agreed by the parties

- (a) A party that wishes to make ETCS Amendments shall serve a notice on the other party that:
 - (i) specifies as far as possible the proposed ETCS Amendments and the date from which they are to have effect; and
 - (ii) is accompanied by information and evidence in reasonable detail supporting the proposed ETCS Amendments and setting out the reasons for making them.
- (b) The party receiving a notice under paragraph 12.2(a) shall respond in writing, in reasonable detail and with reasons for its response, within 30 Working Days of service of such notice.
- (c) Promptly, ~~(and in any event within 20 Working Days)~~ following service of a response pursuant to paragraph 12.2(b), the parties shall use reasonable endeavours to agree ~~whether the wording of the proposed ETCS Amendments and the date on which they are to have effect. shall be made, and, if so, their precise form.~~
- (d) If:
 - (i) the parties agree to make ETCS Amendments pursuant to paragraph 12.2(c); or
 - (ii) the parties fail to reach agreement within 50 Working Days of service of a notice under paragraph 12.2(a), or prior to that date the parties agree that it is unlikely that agreement will be reached within that period,

they shall notify ORR.

12.3 ORR right to approve, determine or make ETCS Amendments

(a) If ORR:

(i) receives a notification under paragraph 12.2(d); or

(ii) proposes to make ETCS Amendments itself,

then in deciding whether to approve, determine or make (as the case may be) the ETCS Amendments it shall:

(A) give the parties and such other persons, if any, as it considers appropriate, the opportunity to make representations in relation to the proposed ETCS Amendments; and

(B) take into account any representations received before making its decision, such decision to specify the date on which the ETCS Amendments shall have effect.

(b) ORR may require either party to provide such information as it may reasonably require to make a decision pursuant to paragraph 12.3(a), and such information shall be provided in accordance with any timescales and to the standard required by ORR.

"ETCS" means the European Train Control System.

APPENDIX 1: PERFORMANCE

Train Operator Performance

~~Train Operator Bonus Payment Rate~~ £16.94 per Minutes Delay to Third Party Trains which are Attributable to the Train Operator.

~~Train Operator Compensation Payment Rate~~ £33.89 per Minutes Delay to Third Party Trains which are Attributable to the Train Operator.

~~Train Operator Cap~~ £ [provided separately]

~~Disruption Sum~~ £1,942

Network Rail Performance

~~Network Rail Bonus Payment Rate~~ £8.74 per Minutes Delay to Services which are Attributable to Network Rail.

~~Network Rail Compensation Payment Rate~~ £17.47 per Minutes Delay to Services which are Attributable to Network Rail.

~~Network Rail Cap~~ £ [provided separately]

~~Prolonged Disruption Amount~~ means an amount equal to the Late Notice Cancellation Sum

Benchmarks

Train Operator Benchmark

Subject to adjustment in accordance with paragraph 10.1, the Train Operator Benchmark (TOB) in relation to each Charging Period shall be ~~2.63~~ [] Minutes Delay per 100 Train Operator Miles.

Network Rail Benchmark

The Network Rail Benchmark (NRB) in relation to a Charging Period shall be: [] Minutes Delay per 100 Train Operator Miles;

- ~~(a) in relation to each Charging Period within Financial Year 2009/2010, 7.58 Minutes Delay per 100 Train Operator Miles;~~
- ~~(b) in relation to each Charging Period within Financial Year 2010/2011, 7.14 Minutes Delay per 100 Train Operator Miles;~~
- ~~(c) in relation to each Charging Period within Financial Year 2011/2012, 6.77 Minutes Delay per 100 Train Operator Miles;~~
- ~~(d) in relation to each Charging Period within Financial Year 2012/2013, 6.57 Minutes Delay per 100 Train Operator Miles; and~~
- ~~(e) in relation to each Charging Period within Financial Year 2013/2014 and each subsequent Financial Year, 6.39 Minutes Delay per 100 Train Operator Miles.~~

Cancellation Sum

The Cancellation Sum shall be calculated as follows:

- (a) the Cancellation Sum shall be £~~1,656~~ [] for each Cancellation below the Cancellation Threshold;

(b) the Cancellation Sum shall be £4,416[] for each Cancellation equal to or above the Cancellation Threshold; and

(c) the “**Cancellation Threshold**” in any Charging Period shall be 0.41 per cent of the total number of Services operated by the Train Operator in that Charging Period.

Late Notice Cancellation Sum

The Late Notice Cancellation Sum in respect of each Late Notice Cancellation shall be £1,430[].

Baseline Network Mileage

The Baseline Network Mileage shall be 317,782,800.

APPENDIX 2: CALCULATION OF MINUTES DELAY

1. Subject to paragraph 2 below, the Minutes Delay for a train in respect of the Trigger of a Recording Point shall be equal to:
 - (a) in respect of the first recorded Trigger, the number of minutes (rounded down to the nearest whole minute), if any, by which the time at which the relevant train Triggers the Recording Point is later than the time at which the train is Planned to Trigger the Recording Point; and
 - (b) in respect of each other recorded Trigger, the lesser of:
 - (i) the number of minutes in respect of the first recorded Trigger calculated in accordance with paragraph 1(a); and
 - (ii) the greater of $((A1-A2) + B)$ and zero,

where:

- A1 is the number of minutes between the time at which the relevant train Triggers the Recording Point (rounded down to the nearest whole minute) and the time of that train's last recorded Trigger of a Recording Point (rounded down to the nearest whole minute);
- A2 is the Planned time between the Triggers mentioned in (A) above; and
- B is any Recovery Time between such Triggers.

2. The Minutes Delay calculated in accordance with paragraph 1 above shall be allocated to the incidents causing those Minutes Delay as described in paragraph 3 of this Schedule 8. Any minutes of delay which are caused by the same incident or series of related incidents and which are less than three minutes in aggregate shall be deemed to be zero and for the purposes of this Schedule 8 shall not be included in the Minutes Delay.

APPENDIX 3: PERFORMANCE STATEMENTS

Interim statements provided by Network Rail

1. As soon as reasonably practicable after the end of each Week (or, in the case of paragraph 1(e), each Charging Period), and using all reasonable endeavours to provide such interim statement within two Working Days after the end of each Week (or, in the case of paragraph 1(e), each Charging Period), Network Rail shall provide to the Train Operator the following interim statements:
 - (a) an interim statement listing all incidents which:
 - (i) are in connection with Services which were Planned to depart from their Origin during that Week;
 - (ii) are Attributable to the Train Operator;
 - (iii) are wholly or partly MDTO (as calculated in accordance with paragraph 4.2.1 of this Schedule 8); and
 - (iv) wholly or partly caused Minutes Delay for any Third Party Train, including the aggregate number of Minutes Delay in respect of Third Party Trains for each such incident;
 - (b) an interim statement listing all incidents which:
 - (i) are in connection with Services which were Planned to depart from their Origin during that Week;
 - (ii) are Attributable to Network Rail; and
 - (iii) are wholly or partly MDNR (as calculated in accordance with paragraph 6.2.1 of this Schedule 8);
 - (c) an interim statement listing all Disruption Sums arising during that Week for which it believes the Train Operator is liable;

- (d) an interim statement listing all incidents which are Attributable to both the Train Operator and Network Rail; and
- (e) an interim statement listing:
 - (i) the total Contract Miles; and
 - (ii) the total number of Services,

in each case operated by the Train Operator during that Charging Period.

Interim statements provided by the Train Operator

2. As soon as reasonably practicable after the end of each Week, and using all reasonable endeavours to provide such interim statement within two Working Days after the end of each Week, the Train Operator shall provide to Network Rail the following interim statements:
 - (a) an interim statement listing all Cancellations occurring during that Week for which the Train Operator considers it is entitled to a Cancellation Sum, and any Late Notice Cancellations for which the Train Operator considers it is entitled to a Late Notice Cancellation Sum, in each case under paragraph 8 of this Schedule 8;
 - (b) an interim statement listing all Prolonged Disruptions occurring or continuing during that Week for which the Train Operator considers it is entitled to a Prolonged Disruption Sum under paragraph 7 of this Schedule 8; and
 - (c) an interim statement listing all Service Variations arising during that Week for which the Train Operator considers it is entitled to a Service Variation Sum under Schedule 4.

Dispute of interim statement

3. Within two Working Days of receipt of any interim statement under paragraph 1 or 2 of this Appendix the recipient shall notify the provider of the interim statement of any reason why it disputes the interim statement by endorsing the interim statement and returning it to the provider of such statement.
4. Within the next five Working Days after notification of any dispute under paragraph 3, nominated representatives of the parties shall meet and attempt to resolve that dispute.
5. If any matter is still in dispute ten Working Days after the meeting held under paragraph 4 above, either party may refer such matter for resolution under paragraph 9.3.1 of this Schedule 8.

Deemed agreement

6. Except to the extent that it has, within two Working Days of receipt, notified the provider of an interim statement under paragraph 3 that it disputes the contents of such interim statement, the recipient shall be deemed to have agreed the contents of that statement.

Further interim statement

7. If Network Rail's nominated representative under paragraph 4 has reasonable grounds to believe that any further incident was:
 - (a) Attributable to the Train Operator;
 - (b) Attributable to Network Rail; or
 - (c) Attributable to both the Train Operator and Network Rail,

but was not shown as such in the information made available under paragraph 1 above, Network Rail may notify the Train Operator of such further incident within five Working Days after the last Minutes Delay, cancellation of a Third Party Train or Cancellation caused by that incident.

8. If Network Rail notifies the Train Operator of any further incident under paragraph 7, Network Rail shall issue a further interim statement for the day in question showing the information required under paragraph 1, and the foregoing provisions of this Appendix shall apply to such further interim statement.

Statement of adjustment

9. If Condition B3.3 of the Network Code (Adjustment to prior results) applies in respect of all or part of a Charging Period, Network Rail shall promptly issue to the Train Operator a statement showing the necessary adjustments (if any) to any Performance Sums, Cancellation Sums, Late Notice Cancellation Sums, Normal Planned Disruption Sums, Enhanced Planned Disruption Sums, Disruption Sums and Prolonged Disruption Sums already paid in respect of the Charging Period.
10. Any statement issued by Network Rail under paragraph 9 shall be accompanied by an adjusting invoice or credit note.